FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 24 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES TREMMEL, ANDREW HIGGINS: AND ERNIE BENNETT,

Petitioners,

Case No. 84,426

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State Attorney's Office for the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Hillsborough County, appealed the trial court's ruling in three separate cases that the stalking statute in section 784.048, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), was unconstitutional on its face (R54,55,9-12,22-25,50-53). In all three cases (James Tremmel, Andrew Higgins, and Ernie Bennett), the charge at issue was aggravated stalking by following or harassing and making a threat (R6,7,19,20,40-42). In addition to making a facial constitutional attack on the stalking statute, Mr. Bennett argued the additional issue of unconstitutionality as factually applied (R69-74,105-113). Although the trial court refused to rule on this aspect of Mr. Bennett's motion and only held the statute facially unconstitutional, Mr. Bennett raises that issue in subsection D of this brief.

Thus, the facts that Mr. Bennett presented at the motion hearing (undisputed by the prosecutor) are set forth here: Mr. Bennett and the alleged victim, Sandra Boyette, had been dating. On May 6, 1992, Ms. Boyette obtained a trespass warning against Mr. Bennett; however, after that point Ms. Boyette initiated contact with Mr. Bennett on several occasions: inviting him to her home, selling him furniture, asking him to store her furniture, going shopping, and going to a movie. They both lived in the same neighborhood, and all the contacts took place in this neighborhood in public areas during the summer of 1992. Although Ms. Boyette complained of Mr. Bennett's phone calls and had her number changed four times, she admitted that she had given the new numbers twice

to Mr. Bennett (R70,71). The aggravated stalking charge against Mr. Bennett involved the time period of May 22 to August 22, 1992 (R40,41).

The trial court entered its order dismissing these charges in all three cases on June 9, 1993; and the State Attorney timely filed its notice of appeal on June 22, 1993 (R9-12,22-25,50-55). The three appeals were consolidated for purposes of appeal (R60). On appeal the Second District reversed the trial court by holding the stalking statute to be facially constitutional. The Second District did not address Mr. Bennett's additional attack on the statute as applied. The Second District did, however, certify the following question to be of great public importance:

IS SECTION 784.048, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992), FACIALLY UNCONSTITU-TIONAL AS VAGUE AND OVERBROAD?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Florida stalking statute, section 784.048, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to Appellee Bennett. Said statute is void for vagueness and violates the overbreadth doctrine. This stalking statute also violates substantive due process of law. Thus, the trial court's decision declaring section 784.048, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), unconstitutional should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER SECTION 784.048, FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992), IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OVERBROAD, VAGUE, AND/OR IN VIOLATION OF SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS?

These consolidated cases not only involve a facial challenge to section 784.048, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992), on all three Petitioners; but also an attack as applied to Ernie Bennett. Mr. Bennett not only facially attacked the constitutionality of the stalking statute, but he specifically attacked its application to his situation based on the facts. Although the trial court did not reach this issue, this issue will be addressed at the end of the brief along with the additional issue of substantive due process.

A. Overbreadth--First Amendment

The statute at issue does regulate action and/or speech

¹The state in its entirety states:

⁽¹⁾ As used in this section:

⁽a) "Harasses" means to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes <u>substantial emotional distress</u> in such person and serves <u>no legitimate purpose</u>.

⁽b) "Course of conduct" means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts <u>over a period of time, however short,</u> evidencing a continuity of purpose. Constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of "course of conduct." Such constitutionally protected activity includes picket-

which are protected by the guarantees of the First Amendment which protects the freedoms of speech and association; and it does so in a manner that is not merely ancillary to conduct not protected by the First Amendment.

The First and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I,

ing or other organized protests.

- (c) "Credible threat" means a threat made with the intent to cause the person who is the target of the threat to reasonably fear for his or her safety. The threat must be against the life of, or a threat to cause bodily injury to, a person.
- (2) Any person who willfully, <u>maliciously</u>, and repeatedly follows <u>or</u> harasses another person, commits the offense of stalking, a misdemeanor of the first degree....
- (3) Any person who willfully, <u>maliciously</u>, and repeatedly follows <u>or</u> harasses another person, <u>and makes a credible threat</u> with the intent to place that person in <u>reasonable fear</u> of death or bodily injury commits the offense of aggravated stalking, a felony of the third degree....
- (4) Any person who, after an injunction for protection against repeat violence pursuant to section 784.046, or an injunction for protection against domestic violence pursuant to section 741.30, or after any other courtimposed prohibition of conduct toward the subject person or that person's property, knowingly, willfully, maliciously, and repeated follows or harasses another person commits the offense of aggravated stalking, a felony of the third degree....
- (5) Any law enforcement officer may arrest, without warrant, any person he or she has probable cause to believe has violated the provisions of this section.

Section 784.048, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) (emphasis supplied).

Sections 3 and 4, of the Florida Constitution imposes limitations upon governmental abridgement of freedom to associate and privacy in one's associations. NAACP v. State of Alabama, 357 U.S. 449, 462, 78 S.Ct. 1163, 2 L.Ed.2d 1488 (1958); Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 350, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967). The instant statute prohibits any person from "willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly [harassing]" another. § 784.048(2), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992).

The overbreadth doctrine allows a defendant to attack a statute because of its effect on conduct other than conduct for which the defendant is being punished. Dombrowsky v. Pfister, 380 U.S. 479, 85 S.Ct. 1116, 14 L.Ed.2d 22 (1965); Broaddrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 608, 93 S.Ct. 2908, 37 L.Ed.2d 830 (1973). The Florida Supreme Court has held that the "overbreadth doctrine applies only if legislation 'is susceptible of application to conduct protected by the First Amendment.'" Southeastern Fisheries Association, Inc. v. Dept. of Natural Resources, 453 So. 2d 1351 at 1353 (Fla. 1984). The constitutionally protected conduct here is the First Amendment freedom to associate and privacy in one's association. This criminalization of the "following" of another individual without touching or harassing said person clearly violates one's right to associate and privacy in a citizen's choice of association.

In <u>W.J.W. v. State</u>, 356 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), the First District struck down a city curfew ordinance. The court found that the curfew ordinance infringed on basic constitutional

rights:

Restraining children under the age of sixteen years from freely walking upon the streets or other public places when no emergency exists is incompatible with the freedoms of speech, association, peaceful assembly and religion secured to all citizens of Florida by Article I of the Florida Constitution.

Id. at 50. See also K.L.J. v. State, 581 So. 2d 920, 921 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Jacksonville curfew ordinance declared unconstitutional even though it contained "legitimate business" exception).

In <u>S.W. v. State</u>, 431 So. 2d 339, 340 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), the Second District struck down a city ordinance which provided for a curfew for children under 17 years of age unless "[the minor] if properly attended by or is in the company of such minor's parent...or if such minor child shall have written permit therefore from the chief of police...." The Court found that the ordinance "prohibits minors participating in a myriad of legitimate activities" and "bristles with the potential for selective enforcement," thereby finding the city ordinance to be both vague and overbroad. <u>Id</u>. at 341.

More recently in <u>Wyche v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 1993), this Court invalidated a Tampa loitering for prostitution ordinance because it was unconstitutionally overbroad and vague. Despite the detailed language of the ordinance, the statute was flawed in that it encompassed innocent conduct. The Court's finding of overbreadth was supported by the fact that the ordinance did not require <u>mens rea</u> as an element of the offense. For example, if an individual who had been recently arrested for

prostitution exhibited the behavior outlined in the ordinance, yet lacked the intent to commit prostitution, they would be subject to prosecution, unless they could convince a police officer that their conduct had a <u>legitimate purpose</u>. Similarly for the statute at issue in this case, a person lacking intent to 'harass' (whatever that legally/criminally means--see section B) would be subject to prosecution unless that person could convince a police officer that the conduct in question had a "legitimate purpose" as required under section 784.048(1)(a), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992).

The instant statute is also constitutionally defective on its face in that it is overbroad and regulates communicative conduct that is protected by the First Amendment. State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1980); State v. Keaton, 371 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1979). Because the anti-stalking statute does not sufficiently define or enumerate the "constitutionally protected activity" that is exempted from the statute, the vagueness of the statute merges with its overbreadth and violates both constitutional precepts.

In Spears v. State, 337 So. 2d 977 at 980 (Fla. 1976), this Court stated:

Overbroad statutes create the danger that a citizen will be punished as a criminal for exercising his right of free speech. If this possibility were the only evil of overbroad statutes, it might suffice to review convictions on a case by case basis. But the mere existence of statutes and ordinances purporting to criminalize protected expression operates as a deterrent to the exercise of the rights of free expression, and deters most effectively the prudent, the cautious and the circumspect, the very persons whose advice we seem generally to be most in need of.

The failure to define or list the "constitutionally protected activity" that is exempted causes the ordinary citizen to either have to guess at what is exempt and protected or become a This results in a chilling of First constitutional scholar. Amendment freedoms. The above-described vaqueness and overbreadth becomes even more troublesome when coupled with constitutionally law enforcement officers, insufficient quidelines for particularly described below. The law as it relates to criminal legislation that can be interpreted to encompass protected speech is clear. "Because First Amendment freedoms need breathing room to survive, government may regulate in the area only with narrow specificity." NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 83 S.Ct. 328 at 338 When a statute punishes only spoken words, it can withstand attack upon its facial constitutionality only if it is not susceptible of application to speech, although vulgar or offensive, that is protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendment. Gooding v. Wilson, 405 U.S. 518 at 520, 92 S.Ct. 1103, 31 L.Ed.2d 408 at 413 (1972). Statutes regulating speech must "punish only unprotected speech and not be susceptible of application to protected expression." Id. at 405 U.S. 522. Where a legislative enactment "is susceptible of application to protected speech . . ., it is constitutionally overbroad and therefore facially invalid." Lewis v. New Orleans, 415 U.S. 130 at 134, 94 S.Ct. 970, 39 L.Ed.2d 214 at 219 (1974).

The right to obtain an abortion is a woman's constitutionally protected right. Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 93 S.Ct. 705,

35 L.Ed.2d 147 (1973). The right to oppose an abortion is secured by the right of free speech. If a potential mother who has announced her intention to obtain an abortion and her husband, heatedly and angrily, demands that she not abort the fetus in such a manner which causes her substantial emotional distress in an attempt to persuade her to abandon her plan, has he committed the crime of stalking? If the mother persists in calling the father to persuade him and enroll him in her decision, has she, in turn, committed the crime of stalking?

Judge Maloney, the lower court judge in <u>State v.</u> <u>Wallace</u>², held the stalking statute to be both unconstitutionally vague and overbroad (See Appendix B). In discussing the overbreadth of the statute, Judge Maloney stated:

Third, in defining "harasses" the legislature used the phrase "course of conduct" and went on to define "court of conduct" in subsection 1(b), to mean the following:

"Course of conduct" means a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose. Constitutionally protected activity is not included within the meaning of "course of conduct." Such constitutionally protected activity includes picketing or other organized protests.

It is one thing to say that constitutionally protected activity cannot be the basis for an arrest under this statute, but it is quite another thing to expect the ordinary citizen or the police to know what activities are

²This case was pending in the Second District in case number 93-1905 until the State voluntarily dismissed the appeal. The order dismissing the appeal was entered on July 13, 1993.

constitutionally protected. The failure to define or list the exempted "constitutionally protected activities" requires the citizen or police officer to be a constitutional scholar. It also requires the citizen to think twice before saying or doing something which may or may not be a crime depending upon a judge's later decision that the activity was or was not constitutionally protected. As such, the statute is not only vague, but it is overbroad.

Judge Maloney then went on to quote from <u>Spears</u>, which has already been quoted above.

In another circuit court case, Judge Wright in State v. Kahles, Case No. 92-22819 MM10A (Broward County Ct., 17th Cir. March 10, 1993) (See Appendix C) ruled that section 784.048 is "unconstitutionally overbroad because it regulates conduct other than that which its purports to regulate." Judge Wright explained:

Since section 748.048 [sic] does not anywhere specifically exempt protected speech from it scope, it is unconstitutionally overbroad. See State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1980); State v. Keaton, 371 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1979).

The potential of section 748.048 [sic] to have a chilling effect on the First Amendment freedoms is present because it lacks guidelines for law enforcement officers. Specifically, this Court notes that the already difficult job of the police officer is rendered impossible by this statute because the officer, whose job is to enforce the law, must also be a psychologist in order to determine the existence of, as well as the level of emotional distress, without any guidelines or definitions to help them. The officer must also be a constitutional scholar in order to determine whether conduct is exempted from the "constitutionally protected statute as or otherwise has a "legitimate activity" purpose," again without definitions of those terms or guidelines to make said determination. As a result this law is overbroad and violative of both the U.S. and Florida Constitutions.

And, of course, Circuit Court Judge Behnke, in her order finding the stalking statute to be both vague and overbroad, agreed with Petitioners' argument that the statute is unconstitutionally overbroad in that it regulates protected rights to free speech and freedom to associate:

The failure to define "constitutionally protected activities" requires the citizen or police officer to be well-read in the area of Constitutional Law and that is unreasonable. As this court inquired of the Assistant State Attorney during argument "How does the law enforcement officer know what constitutionally protected conduct means." Therein, lies the problem. This makes the statute constitutionally overbroad.

(R52, 53).

The Florida stalking statute should be declared unconstitutional under the United State's Constitution Fourteenth Amendment overbreadth doctrine. The statute purports to criminalize conduct which clearly is constitutionally protected by the First Amendment.

B. Vaqueness

The due process vagueness doctrine (1) requires notice to citizens and (2) prevents discriminatory enforcement, but the latter purpose is more important.

As generally stated, the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. Although the doctrine focuses both on actual notice to citizens and arbitrary enforcement, we have recognized recently

that the more important aspect of the vagueness doctrine "is not actual notice, but the other principal element of the doctrine -- the requirement that a legislature establish minimal guidelines to govern law enforcement." Where the legislature fails to provide such minimal guidelines, a criminal statute may permit "a standardless sweep [that] allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections."

Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357-358 (1983) (citations omitted).

Florida law also emphasizes this necessity for guidelines to prevent selective prosecution.

Although the goal of the Legislature in promulgation of such legislation to protect the public health, welfare, and safety of children is not only laudable but essential, there must exist some guidelines to instruct those subject thereto as to what will render them liable to its criminal sanctions. No such standards have been provided in section 827.05.... Such a statute lends itself to the unacceptable practice of selective prosecution.

State v. Winters, 346 So. 2d 991, 993-94 (Fla. 1977).

Section 784.048(2) is unconstitutionally vague in that it fails to reasonably inform a citizen of the conduct which is prohibited. As such, section 784.048 violates the Due Process Clauses of the Fifth Amendment and the Florida Constitution because "men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at it's meaning and differ as to its application." Connally v. General Construction Co., 269 U.S. 385 at 391, 46 S.Ct. 126, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926). The Legislature, in composing section 784.048, used both a confusing sentence structure and words whose definitions fail to dispel the vagueness.

The statute throughout states that "Any person who willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly follows or harasses another person commits the offense of stalking." Subsections (2), (3), and (4). This wording is ambiguous based on the construction of the sentence. Based on the punctuation and structure there is no single meaning which can be taken from this sentence. There are three equally plausible ways to interpret this section, each with distinct and difference meanings.

The placement of the words willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly is ambiguous because it is <u>impossible</u> to know whether one needs to be willfully and maliciously harassing someone to commit stalking or if someone who is not willful or malicious, yet who's actions are repeatedly harassing commits the offense. This ambiguity clearly makes the statute vague, and it should be declared void.

To illustrate the ambiguity here are three sentences, each constructionally unambiguous; yet, under the current statute, each is an equally plausible interpretation as to what constitutes stalking. Using the exact words of the statute, the statute could be read:

- 1. Any person who willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly:
 - 1) follows or,
 - 2) harasses

another person commits...

- 2. Any person who
 - 1) willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly follows, or

2) harasses

another person commits...

- 3. Any person who willfully, maliciously, and
 - 1) repeatedly follows, or
 - 2) harasses

another person commits...

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