## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,426

FILED

SID I WHITE

JAMES TREMMEL, ANDREW HIGGINS, and ERNIE BENNETT,

Petitioners,

OCT 31 19941

GLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

-vs-

## THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

#### ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0239437
Office of the Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

PARKER D. THOMSON Special Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 081225

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

In summary, the Statute is not overbroad. Stalking, whether by word or deed, done with the requisite specific intent to cause harm or threat to the victim is not protected by the First Amendment. The Stalking Statute regulates the conduct that causes threat or harm, not the content of a message that may accompany it. Lastly, the Statute by its terms ("course of conduct") excludes constitutionally protected activity. This type of exclusion has saved statutes from overbreadth challenges.

See, e.g., Arnett v. Kennedy, 416 U.S. 134, 162, 94 S.Ct. 1633, 40 L.Ed.2d 15 (1974). In this case, the exclusion is unnecessary to protect against the overbreadth challenge.

# THE STATUTE IS NOT VAGUE

Petitioners' vagueness claim can only relate to that portion of the Statute that affects him. Parker v. Levy, 47 U.S. at 757. But in any case, no portion of this Statute is "vague" in the sense of violating the First or Fourteenth Amendments. In order to succeed on a vagueness challenge, Petitioner must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its applications. Village of Hoffman Estates, supra. However, perfection of the rule, rather whether it violates language not Kahles, supra; Pallas, supra; Stalder, constitutional mandates. supra.

Petitioners challenge a number of terms of the Statute as "vaque". These terms will be addressed in turn.

# Knowingly

"Knowingly," in criminal law, means actual consciousness, or actually having knowledge of the facts at issue. United States v. United States Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 444-45, 98 S.Ct. 2864, 57 L.Ed.2d 854 (1978), United States v. Warren, 612 F.2d 887 (5th See also, Sec. 409.920(2)(c) Fla. Stat. (1993) Cir. 1980). ("Knowingly" means done by a person who is aware of, or should be aware of the nature of his conduct and that his conduct is substantially certain to cause the intended result). Accordingly, "knowingly" as applied in this case means that the defendant knew that the injunction had been issued and acted in contravention thereof.

# Willfully

The United States Supreme Court defined the term "willful" as "when [willful is] used in a criminal statute it generally means an act done with a bad purpose." Screws v. United States, 395 U.S. 91, 101, 65 S.Ct. 1031, 89 L.Ed.2d 1495 (1985) (upholding the vagueness challenge to 18 U.S.C. 52). The Court stated further that willfulness requires more "than the doing of an act proscribed by statute" and that "[a]n evil motive to accomplish that which the statute condemns becomes a constituent element of the crime." Id. As to vagueness the Court held:

...the requirement of a specific intent to do a prohibited act may avoid those consequences to the accused which may otherwise render a vague or indefinite statute invalid...But where the punishment imposed is only for an act knowingly done with the purpose of doing that which the statute prohibits, the accused cannot be said to suffer from lack of warning or knowledge that the act which he does is a violation of law. The requirement that the act must be willful or purposeful may not render certain, for all purposes, a statutory definition of the crime which is in some But it does relieve the respects uncertain. statute of the objection that it punishes without warning an offense of which the accused was unaware.

Id. at 101-102.

Florida has defined "willful" similarly to the United States Supreme Court's definition. "Willful" means intentionally, knowingly and purposely. Paterson v. State, 512 So. 2d 1109

(Fla. 1st DCA 1987). The Statute contains the necessary scienter element, since in all sections it punishes only that perpetrator who willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follows or harasses another person. A person of ordinary intelligence can understand that he will have violated a statute if he followed or harassed another intentionally and with a bad purpose. It is the perpetrator's mental state which is the measure of his criminality.

The Statute requires not only that the act be intentional and with a bad purpose (maliciously). It also has to be done repeatedly. Each of these terms adds limitations to the Statute, curing any vagueness as to what conduct is prohibited.

# Maliciously

"Maliciously" is a term well-defined in criminal law. It isdefined as "wrongfully, intentionally, without legal justification or excuse, and with the knowledge that injury or damage will or may be caused to another person or the property of another person." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 130, 109. See also, State v. Gaylord, 356 So. 2d 313 (Fla 1978) ("maliciously" means ill will, hatred, spite, an evil intent). The term maliciously, in combination, with the term "willful", clearly requires the perpetrator's conduct to be done intentionally, with an evil purpose and without legal justification. The terms "willfully" and "maliciously" are legal terms defined in familiar

legal terms. <u>Bradley v. United States</u>, 410 U.S. 605, 93 S.Ct. 1151, 35 L.Ed.2d 528 (1973). As such, these terms delineate what conduct is proscribed.

# Repeatedly

The plain and ordinary meaning of "repeatedly" can be determined by referring to a dictionary. Green v. State, 604 So. 2d 471 (Fla. 1992). "Repeated" means: "1: renewed or recurring again and again: constant, frequent." Webster's Third New International Dictionary; 1924 (1986 Ed.). Applying this definition to the term "repeatedly" further clarifies the proscribed conduct in the Statute. The perpetrator must act intentionally with an evil purpose and such act must be more than an isolated incident.

### Harasses

The Statute in Section (1)(a) defines "harasses" as follows:

(a) "Harasses" means to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose.

Petitioners challenge this statutory definition on the individual terms and not on the whole statutory definition. Petitioners allege that the terms "substantial emotional distress" and "no legitimate purpose" are not sufficient to prevent arbitrary enforcement.

The Statute's definition of "harass" was modelled after the definition of "harass" in federal criminal statutes. The United States Congress enacted the Victim Protection Act of 1982, Pub. L. No. 97-291, 96 Stat. 1248, which included 18 U.S.C. §§ 1512, 1513 and 1514. These statutes related to the intimidation of or retaliation against witnesses and informants, and §1514 permits the Government to obtain an injunction to prohibit harassment of a federal witness. "Harassment" is defined in §1514(c) as follows:

- (c) As used in this section --
  - (1) the term "harassment" means a course of conduct directed at a specific person that --
    - (A) causes substantial emotional distress in such a person; and
    - (B) serves no legitimate purpose; and
  - (2) the term "course of conduct" means a series of acts over a period of time, however short, indicating a continuity of purpose.

The Florida Stalking Statute mirrors in virtually identical language the Federal definition of "harassment". See Fla. Stat. §784.048(1)(a) and (b), supra.

The Eleventh Circuit upheld this model for the definition of the "harassment" in the Florida Stalking Statute, although the Statute's constitutionality was not in issue. <u>United States v.</u> Tison, 780 F.2d 1569 (11th Cir. 1986).

The Statute's reference to "substantial emotional distress" is analogous to the definition of "severe emotional distress," as set out in Section 46, Restatement (Second) of Torts (1965) and approved by this Court in Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. v. McCarson, 467 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1985). This definition is:

§46 Outrageous Conduct Causing Severe Emotional Distress

(1) One who by extreme and outrageous conduct intentionally or recklessly causes severe emotional distress to another is subject to liability for such emotional distress, and if bodily harm to the other results from it, for such bodily harm.

This Court also adopted the comments explaining the application of Section 46:

### d. Extreme and outrageous conduct

...It has not been enough that the defendant has acted with an intent which is tortious or even criminal, or that he has intended to inflict emotional distress, or even that his conduct has been characterized by "malice," degree of aggravation which entitle the plaintiff to punitive damages for another tort. Liability has been found only where the conduct has been so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in civilized а community. Generally, the case is one in which the recitation of the facts to an average member of the community would arouse his resentment against the actor, and lead him to exclaim. "Outrageous.!"

g. The conduct, although it would otherwise be extreme and outrageous, may be privileged under the circumstances. The actor is never liable, for example where he has done no more than to insist upon his legal rights in a permissible way, even though he is well aware that such insistence is certain to cause emotional distress.

The Statute's requirement of "substantial emotional distress" and the Restatement's definition of "severe emotional distress" are analogous. Both exempt intentional acts if the act attempts to enforce a legal right in a lawful way. As such, this aspect of the Statute's definition of "harasses" has established roots in the legal system and therefore provides the necessary guidance to avoid arbitrary enforcement. This position has been adopted in Woolfolk v. Virginia, No. 73-93-2 (Va. Ct. App. August 23, 1994) (Attached as Exhibit A), when the Court upheld its stalking statute against the same challenge.

The Petitioners contend, however, that the definition of "harasses" is impermissibly vague since it contains a subjective standard. The subjective standard suggested is that the term "that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose" introduces the concept of the "eggshell plaintiff" into criminal law. As such the Petitioners argue that a defendant does not know if his conduct offends until after the stalking occurred, since in some situations a normal person would not suffer substantial emotional distress while a highly sensitive person would.

This claim was rejected by the <u>Pallas</u> court, which upheld the statute using a "reasonable person" standard. The Third District held the Statute was similar to the assault statutes, where a "well-founded fear" is measured by a reasonable person standard, not a subjective standard. Under the Statute, the definition of "harasses" proscribes willful, malicious, and repeated acts of harassment which are directed at a specific person, which serve no legitimate purpose, and which would cause substantial emotional distress in a <u>reasonable person</u>. <u>Pallas</u>, 636 So. 2d at 1361 (emphasis added). See also <u>Woolfolk v</u>. Virginia, supra.

The Statute does not use a subjective standard to determine if the victim suffered substantial emotional distress, therefore the Petitioners' argument that the term "substantial emotional distress" is vague fails. Because "substantial emotional distress" is measured by a reasonable person standard, the term gives fair notice of what conduct is prohibited.

# "Serves a Legitimate Purpose" and "Constitutionally Protected Activity"

The Statute excludes from criminal prosecution conduct which "serves a legitimate purpose" or which is "constitutionally protected activity." The Petitioner contends that the failure to define these terms is fatal. The State submits the fact that the Statute fails to define these terms is of no moment because the

terms are surplusage. American Radio Relay Leaque v. F.C.c., 617 F.2d 875 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (A statute should be construed so that effect is given to all its provisions, but courts will not give independent meaning to a word where it is apparent from the context of the statute the word is surplusage). As previously stated, stalking can only be charged if a perpetrator harasses another maliciously, to wit: wrongfully, intentionally, and without legal justification or excuse. Therefore, conduct is only proscribed if done without legal justification or excuse, which under the Statute, would equate to "without a legitimate purpose." If the conduct is constitutionally protected, then it is done with "lawful justification," and then does not fall within the Statute.

Petitioners contend that the failure to define "legitimate purpose" renders the statute vague since it leaves to the arresting officer the total discretion as to what is a legitimate purpose. This position misses the mark since the Statute is violated only when the conduct is done willfully, maliciously, and repeatedly. These terms appear in other criminal statues and have already provided the needed guidance to law enforcement to determine when a statute has been violated.

Section 782.04(2), Florida Statutes (1993), provides that the unlawful killing of a human being, when perpetrated by any act imminently dangerous to another and evincing a depraved mind

regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular person, is second degree murder. These terms, "imminently dangerous to another" and "evincing a depraved mind" are not defined, but, this has caused no vagueness problem. Rather, the terms have been defined by the courts as an act which a person of ordinary judgment would know is reasonably certain to kill or do serious bodily injury to another done from ill will, hatred, spite or an evil intent, and is of such a nature that the act itself indicates an indifference to human life. Marasa v. State, 394 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

Section 806.13, Florida Statues (1993), provides that a person commits the offense of criminal mischief if he willfully and maliciously injures or damages by any means, any real or personal property of another. This Statute also has withstood constitutional scrutiny since the courts have defined "willful" as intentional, and "malicious" as an act done voluntarily, unlawfully, and without justification. Williams v. State, 92 Fla. 648, 109 So. 505 (1926).

# Course of Conduct

The term "course of conduct" is defined by the Statute as "a pattern of conduct composed of a series of acts over a period of time, however short, evidencing a continuity of purpose." The terms of the definition are clear and unequivocal. A "series of acts" by its plain and ordinary meaning, is more than one act in sequence. This term must be read in conjunction with the term "a period of time" and together they mean that a linked series or otherwise defined actions taking place over even a brief period of time is criminal activity that may subject the perpetrator to prosecution. See 18 U.S.C. 1514, supra.

# Following

The term "following" when read as part of the whole and not in isolation, limits arbitrary enforcement. Following only becomes criminal when done willfully, maliciously and repeatedly. Thus, a perpetrator can be charged with stalking if he intentionally, knowingly, purposely and without legal justification or excuse, follows another person with the knowledge that injury or danger will or is likely to be caused to such person or the person's property. This certainly meets constitutional muster.

# SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS

The Petitioners next contend that the Statue violates substantive due process because, by its vague and uncertain

terms, it criminalizes activity that is inherently innocent. Their argument is the same one on which they base their vagueness challenge. The vagueness challenge fails because of the narrowing construction this Court must impose upon the Statute. The Statute is only directed at unlawful conduct and therefore innocent and legitimate conduct does not come within its ambit. Therefore, Petitioners' substantive due process challenge must also fail.

# BENNETT'S CLAIM OF UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED

As Bennett admits in his brief, this issue, although raised was never ruled on by the trial court. As such, the issue is not properly before this court for review. Hand v. State, 334 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1976). Therefore, if this Court affirms the District Court and finds the Stalking Statute constitutional, then the cause should be returned to the trial court for a determination of its constitutionality as applied.

# CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully prays that this Court affirm the district court and the trial court and hold that Section 784.048 Florida Statutes (1992) and Section 784.048(3) thereof, to be constitutional.